
CITY OF BRUNSWICK 
601 Gloucester Street * Post Office Box 550 * Brunswick * Georgia * 31520-0550 * (912) 267-5500 * Fax (912) 267-5549 

Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor    City Attorney 
Julie T. Martin, Mayor Pro Tem  Brian D. Corry 
John A. Cason III, Commissioner 
Felicia M. Harris, Commissioner           City Manager 
Kendra L. Rolle, Commissioner  Regina M. McDuffie 

www.brunswickga.org 
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER 

AGENDA 
*** 

BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  
REGULAR SCHEDULED COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 1, 2023 AT 6:00 P.M. 
1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 

& 
STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

CALL TO ORDER **INVOCATION **PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1. Adoption of November 1, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Agenda.
PUBLIC COMMENT 
RECOGNITION(S), PRESENTATION(S), & AWARD(S)
2. Keep Golden Isles Beautiful and Girl Scouts Manatee Sculpture Presentation.  (L. Badyna) (Encl 1) 
ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL
3. Consider Approval of October 18, 2023 Work Session and Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes. (subject 
to any necessary changes.)  (N. Atkinson) (Encl 2)
4. Consider Approval of September 30, 2023 Financial Reports.  (K. Mills) (Encl 3)
5. Consider Approval to Purchase One Hundred Dollar Gift Cards ($100.00) for Full Time Employees and 
Elected Officials, Fifty Dollar Gift Cards ($50.00) for Part Time and Seasonal Employees. (R. McDuffie). 
(Encl 4)
6. Consider Approval of St. Marks Towers Construction Agreement.  (G. Alberson) (Encl 5)
7. Consider Approval for Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Expenditures for Orange 
Park and Additional Police Cars.  (R. McDuffie). (Encl 6)
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

http://www.brunswickga.org/
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga








  

OFFICIAL MINUTES  
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  

WORK SESSION  
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2023 AT 5:00 P.M. 

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
& 

STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

 
PRESENT:   Honorable Mayor Cosby Johnson, Mayor Pro-Tem Julie Martin, Commissioner  

           John Cason III, Commissioner Felicia Harris, and Commissioner  
           Kendra Rolle   

CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Johnson (meeting began at 5:00 p.m.) 
 
DISCUSSION: 
1.  Affordable Housing & Neighborhood Revitalization Program.  (J. Hunter) 
     City Planning Russ Marane gave a presentation on the above-referenced plan.   
     Following questions and answers the commission thanked Mr. Marane for the update. 
PUBLIC HEARING      
2.  Pathways to Removing Obstacles to Housing (PRO Housing).  (J. Hunter)    
     City Planning Russ Marane gave a presentation to the commission on the above-referenced item  
     and advised the commission of grants available to assist in covering some of the obstacles to  
     housing. 
      
     Mayor Johnson opened the floor for anyone wanting to address the commission regarding Pro  
     Housing.  
 
     No one came forth to address the commission. 
 
     Public hearing closed. 

 
 
 
 
 
WORK SESSION ADJOURNED – session adjourned at 5:58 p.m. 

 
        /s/Cosby H. Johnson    
        Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor  
         
Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson   
            Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


2 
 

OFFICIAL MINUTES  
BRUNSWICK CITY COMMISSION  

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2023 AT 6:00 P.M. 

1229 NEWCASTLE STREET, 2nd FLOOR 
& 

STREAMED LIVE AT THE BELOW WEB ADDRESS: 
https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga 

 
PRESENT:   Honorable Mayor Cosby Johnson, Mayor Pro-Tem Julie Martin, Commissioner  

           John Cason III, Commissioner Felicia Harris, and Commissioner  
           Kendra Rolle  

CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Johnson - meeting began at 6:00 p.m. 
INVOCATION:  Rabbi Rachel Bregman 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE ~ Recited by all in attendance.  
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
1.  Adoption of October 18, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Agenda.  
     Commissioner Harris made a motion to adopt October 18, 2023 regular scheduled meeting  
     agenda; seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Martin.    Motion passed unanimously. 
PUBLIC COMMENT -    No one was present to address the commission. 
RECOGNITION(S), PRESENTATION(S), & AWARD(S) 
2.  Proclamation Presentation to Jason Marshall, Executive Director of Ability One Program,  
     Goodwill Southeast Georgia, Proclaiming the Month of October as National Disability  
     Employment Awareness Month.  
     Mr. Marshall excepted proclamation with gratitude. 
3.  Georgia Exceptional Main Street Redesignation. (M. Hill) 
     Ellen Hill, Georgia Department of Community Affairs recognized the City of Brunswick’s impact  
     and contributions to the state of Georgia and presented Downtown Development Director Mathew    
     Hill with certificate redesignating Downtown Brunswick as a Georgia Exceptional Main Street. 
ITEM(S) TO CONSIDER FOR APPROVAL 
4.  Consider Approval of October 4, 2023 Regular Scheduled Meeting Minutes. (subject to any  
     necessary changes.)  (N. Atkinson)  
     Commissioner Harris made a motion to approve the above-referenced minutes; seconded by  
     Commissioner Cason.  Motion passed unanimously. 
CITY ATTORNEY’S ITEM(S) 
5.  Consider Approval of Appointment of Jason Clark and J. Wrix McIlvains as Judge Pro Tempore’s  
     for Municipal Court of the City of Brunswick.    
     Mayor Pro Tem Martin made a motion to appoint Jason Clark and J. Wrix McIlvains as Judge Pro  
     Tempore’s for Municipal Court; seconded by Commissioner Rolle.  Motion passed unanimously. 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
There was not an executive session held during this meeting. 
 

https://www.facebook.com/citybwkga


3 
 

Commissioner Cason made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Commissioner Harris.  Motion 
passed unanimously. 
MEETING ADJOURNED – meeting adjourned at 6:20 p.m. 

 
        /s/Cosby H. Johnson   
        Cosby H. Johnson, Mayor  
 
Attest: /s/ Naomi D. Atkinson_______  
            Naomi D. Atkinson, City Clerk 

















Page | 1 

SUBJECT: ST. MARKS TOWERS – CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT 

COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:            November 1, 2023 

PURPOSE: 

Approval of an agreement with Structor Group for replacement of window units and HVAC 
units in all of the residential spaces of St. Marks Towers senior residential facility 

HISTORY: 

St. Marks Towers is a non-profit residential facility for low-income senior citizens located east 
of U.S. Highway 17 at the end of Parkwood Avenue.    The facility consists of two, six-story 
structures with a total of 150 one-bedroom apartments.  The north tower was constructed in 
1982, and the south tower was constructed in 1992.  The residents’ rent and utility costs are 
subsidized by funding from the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

FACTS AND ISSUES: 

The City received a grant from the Georgia Department of Community Affairs (DCA) in the 
amount of $6 Million for replacement of window units and the HVAC units in each of the 
residential spaces of the towers.  Each residential apartment contains two window units and one 
HVAC unit.  The windows in the stairways and common areas of the buildings will be replaced 
as part of the scope of work also. 

A request for proposals was issued in October 2022, and proposals were received in November.  
Two firms submitted proposals which met the minimum requirements. The pricing of the two 
proposals is as follows: 

Structor Group - $5,975,000 
Phillips Construction - $3,446,999 

Two additional proposals were received following the submittal deadline listed in the RFP.  
Those proposals were not eligible for consideration, but it is worth noting that the pricing on 
each of those proposals was $6.37 Million and $6.60 Million. 

The staff of the Department of Engineering and Public Works evaluated both of the eligible 
proposals and has selected the proposal from Structor Group as the more desirable proposal.  
Both the windows and the HVAC products in the Structor proposal are higher quality materials 
and include manufacturers and installation warranties.  Additionally, the Structor proposal 



Page | 2 

included a more favorable timeline for project completion.  Their proposal also listed their 
experience with past projects of similar size, scope and environmental challenges.  The Phillips 
proposal did not provide sufficient information on the products, warranties, or the installation 
process.  For these reasons, the department recommends entering an agreement with Structor 
Group for the installation of the windows and HVAC units. 

The contractor is prepared to order materials as soon as the agreement is approved, and begin 
installation upon material delivery.  The project schedule estimates completion within 12 
months. 

The preliminary site assessments and environmental reviews have also revealed mold in several 
of the units primarily due to leaks around the windows and moisture in the walls and floors from 
failing HVAC units.  The site assessment report recommends that some of the mold and 
associated damages can be remedied as part of the window and HVAC replacement project.  The 
Department of Community Affairs has assured City staff that the additional costs for the mold 
abatement and repairs will be covered by the grant funding.  Any mold or damage found in other 
locations within the residential units and that would not be cleaned or repaired during the 
window/HVAC replacement project will remain the responsibility of St. Marks Towers. 

BUDGET INFORMATION: 

The City will receive $6,000,000 in grant funding from DCA with no match required from the 
City.  If the project should exceed the $6,000,000 cost of the grant agreement, any additional 
funding will be provided by DCA.  There will be no cost to the City as part of this project. 

OPTIONS: 

1. Authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with Structor Group in the amount of
$5,975,000 for window and HVAC replacement at the St. Marks Towers

2. Do not authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with Structor Group in the amount of
$5,975,000 for window and HVAC replacement at the St. Marks Towers

3. Take no action at this time.

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Authorize the Mayor to sign an agreement with Structor Group in the amount of 
$5,975,000 for window and HVAC replacement at the St. Marks Towers 



Page | 3 

DEPARTMENT: Engineering & Public Works 

Prepared by: Tim Nelson, Capital Projects Manager 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

_______________________________ 

City Manager

_10/24/2023____________ 

Date     













































Page | 1 
 

 

SUBJECT:  Funding Schedule for SPLOST 2022 Projects 

 

COMMISSION ACTION REQUESTED ON:             November 1st, 2023   

PURPOSE: To review the schedule of funding and expenses for the 2022 SPLOST.  Funds 
are projected at approximately $6.5 million per year over the six (6) year period.  Projects 
were given Tier 1 and Tier 2 funding.  The project listing is attached along with the 
funding schedule for Infrastructure projects that are handled by Public Works and other 
projects that are handled by the various departments.   The funding schedule is presented 
for informational purposes.   

 

HISTORY:  SPLOST 2022 was approved with an original budget of $37.4 million for 
fifteen (15) projects.  The current collections have been significantly higher than projected 
but may taper over time.  The project schedule is presented based on the original 
projection but will be adjusted annually to show actual collections.  In addition to the tax 
collection the fund will include reimbursements and interest income, if applicable.  The 
projects will be reviewed monthly, and all expenditures are approved in the financial 
report.  Project updates will be given quarterly, and information will be available on the 
city’s website.     

 

FACTS AND ISSUES: The fund has generated $3,380,645 as of October.  Infrastructure 
projects including storm drainage and road improvements are ongoing.  Major project 
expenditures for specific project contracts and purchases will be presented to the 
commission as applicable.  Funds for Orange Park improvements and cars for the 
Brunswick Police Department are summarized on the attached spreadsheet.   

 

BUDGET INFORMATION: SPLOST funds were approved in 2022.   

 

OPTIONS: 

1. Approve the expenditures for Orange Park and additional police cars.    

2. Do not approve the expenditures for Orange Park and additional police cars.       



Page | 2 
 

3. Take no action at this time. 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

Approve expenditures as presented. 

 

DEPARTMENT: Finance Department   

Prepared by: Regina M. McDuffie, City Manager and Garrow Alberson, City Engineer 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMENTS: 

Approval is requested for major project contracts and purchases.   

 

ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve recommended to support ongoing improvements to the parks and city operations.   

 

Regina M. McDuffie      10/24/2023 
________________________________    ________________________ 
City Manager                                                                                      Date                   
      



 Total Estimated 
Funding 

2023                   
(Apr - Dec)

2024                 
(Jan - Dec)

2025                  
(Jan - Dec)

2026               
(Jan - Dec)

2027              
(Jan - Dec)

2028              (Jan 
- Dec)

Total estimated funding (including Tier I & II) 37,400,000$            5,000,000$        6,480,000$        6,480,000$        6,480,000$        6,480,000$        6,480,000$         

Allocations
Storm Drainage 11,500,000$            30.7% 1,537,433$        1,992,513$        1,992,513$        1,992,513$        1,992,513$        1,992,513$         
Roadways 8,000,000$              21.4% 1,069,519$        1,386,096$        1,386,096$        1,386,096$        1,386,096$        1,386,096$         
Sidewalks 1,100,000$              2.9% 147,059$           190,588$           190,588$           190,588$           190,588$           190,588$            
Building Improvements 900,000$                  2.4% 120,321$           155,936$           155,936$           155,936$           155,936$           155,936$            
Trails & Boardwalks 3,500,000$              9.4% 467,914$           606,417$           606,417$           606,417$           606,417$           606,417$            
PW Equipment 900,000$                  2.4% 120,321$           155,936$           155,936$           155,936$           155,936$           155,936$            
Public Safety 1,650,000$              4.4% 220,588$           285,882$           285,882$           285,882$           285,882$           285,882$            
Ritz Theater 950,000$                  2.5% 127,005$           164,599$           164,599$           164,599$           164,599$           164,599$            
Mary Ross Park 4,500,000$              12.0% 601,604$           779,679$           779,679$           779,679$           779,679$           779,679$            
Recreation Facilities 2,700,000$              7.2% 360,963$           467,807$           467,807$           467,807$           467,807$           467,807$            
Historic Squares 500,000$                  1.3% 66,845$             86,631$             86,631$             86,631$             86,631$             86,631$              
Cemeteries 150,000$                  0.4% 20,053$             25,989$             25,989$             25,989$             25,989$             25,989$              
Other Parks 500,000$                  1.3% 66,845$             86,631$             86,631$             86,631$             86,631$             86,631$              
Software 400,000$                  1.1% 53,476$             69,305$             69,305$             69,305$             69,305$             69,305$              
Technology 150,000$                  0.4% 20,053$             25,989$             25,989$             25,989$             25,989$             25,989$              

100.0%

31,550,000$            4,217,914$        5,466,417$        5,466,417$        5,466,417$        5,466,417$        5,466,417$         
Other Projects 5,850,000$              782,086$           1,013,583$        1,013,583$        1,013,583$        1,013,583$        1,013,583$         
Public Works projects



SPLOST 2022 Project Schedule - Infrastructure

Fiscal Year 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Revenue

Annual  $       4,217,914  $       5,466,417  $       5,466,417  $       5,466,417  $       5,466,417  $       5,466,417 
Carryover 1,442,914$       9,332$               1,125,749$       42,166$             8,583$               

Total Available 4,217,914$       6,909,332$       5,475,749$       6,592,166$       5,508,583$       5,475,000$       

Expenses FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029

Storm Drainage $2,300,000 $2,500,000 $2,000,000 $1,700,000 $3,000,000
M-T Drainage Albany St Riverside (est.) tide control? Wildwood (est.)

Roadways $100,000 $3,500,000 $100,000 $2,500,000 $1,800,000

 Altama design Altama Const. Pkwd Design Parkwood Const. Norwich

Sidewalks $75,000 $100,000 $300,000 $200,000 $300,000 $125,000

Building Improvements $100,000 $100,000 $300,000 $150,000 $250,000

Trails & Boardwalks $100,000 $600,000 $300,000 $2,000,000 $500,000
 MLK-Altama 
design

Bdwalk design      
MLK-Altama 

MLK-Altama 
const Bdwlk Const.

PW Equipment $100,000 $100,000 $250,000 $200,000 $200,000 $50,000

Mary Ross Park $1,000,000 $1,500,000 $1,500,000 $500,000

Historic Squares $500,000

Cemeteries $150,000

Other Parks $100,000 $400,000

Totals

Total Expenses $2,775,000 $6,900,000 $4,350,000 $6,550,000 $5,500,000 $5,475,000 31,550,000$     

Over/Under Budget 1,442,914$       9,332$               1,125,749$       42,166$             8,583$               -$                   



SPLOST 2022 Project Schedule - Other

Fiscal Year 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Revenue

Annual  $          782,086  $       1,013,583  $       1,013,583  $       1,013,583  $       1,013,583  $       1,013,583 
Carryover 382,086$          395,668$          309,251$          222,834$          36,417$             

Total Available 782,086$          1,395,668$       1,409,251$       1,322,834$       1,236,417$       1,050,000$       

Expenses FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029

Police Veh / Equipment $250,000 $150,000 $50,000 $250,000 $200,000

Fire Veh / Equipment $250,000 $500,000

Ritz Theater $200,000 $150,000 $350,000 $250,000

HCP / RL Ctr Facilities $150,000 $250,000 $500,000 $750,000 $1,050,000

Integrated Software $150,000 $250,000

Technology Upgrade $150,000

Totals

Total Expenses $400,000 $1,000,000 $1,100,000 $1,100,000 $1,200,000 $1,050,000 5,850,000$       

Over/Under Budget 382,086$          395,668$          309,251$          222,834$          36,417$             -$                   


	Agenda
	Encl. 1 KGIB.Girl Scouts Sculpture
	Encl. 2 Minutes
	Encl. 3 Financial Reports
	Encl. 4 Gift Cards
	Encl. 5 St. Marks Const. Agreem.
	Encl. 6 SPLOST Expenditures

